NO. 46002-5-II 

FILED 
JUN 2 1 2016 

WASHINGTON STATE 
SUPREME COURT 

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON. 

1402 Broadway 
Suite 103 

DIVISION II 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

vs. 

GUADALUPE SOLIS-DIAZ, 

Petitioner. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

John A. Hays. No. 16654 
Attorney for Appellant 

Longview, WA 98632 
(360) 423-3084

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Guadalupe Solis-Diaz asks this court to accept review of the decision 

designated in Part B of this motion. 

B. DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of that part of the published decision of the Court 

of Appeals denying appellant's request that the original trial judge be 

disqualified from presiding over the new sentencing hearing ordered by the 

Court of Appeals. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Should a trial judge be disqualified from presiding over a new 
sentencing hearing when the argument for recusal is made for the first 
time on appeal and when (1) the trial judge hearing will be called upon 
to exercise discretion regarding the very issues that triggered the appeal, 
(2) the trial judge has previously expressed an opinion on the merits of 
the case, or (3) when the trial judge has demonstrated that he has 
otherwise prejudged the case? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

On December 17, 2007, Judge Hunt of the Lewis County Superior Court 

sentenced then 17-year-old Guadalupe Solis-Diaz to 92.6 years in prison 

upon his convictions for six counts of first degree assault, one count of drive-

by shooting and one count of unlawful possession of a tirearm. CP 6-15. 

The Lewis County Prosecutor charged all of these offenses out of a single 

incident in which Mr. Solis-Diaz stepped from a car and shot six or seven 

times toward a group of people standing outside a bar. CP 1-5. He did not 
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injure anyone although he did break a window. CP 52-62. 

After an unsuccessful direc.t appeaL Mr. Solis-Diaz brought a personal 

restraint petition arguing that (I) his sentence violated his right to be free 

from cruel and unusual punishment, and (2) his trial attorney was ineffective 

based upon his failure to seek a sentence below the standard range. CP 32-

47. By unpublished opinion liled in 2012. Division H of the Court of 

Appeals vacated the defendant's sentence on the inetTecti ve assistance 

argument without addressing the Eighth Amendment claim. !d. The court 

then remanded for a new sentencing hearing. !d. Specifically. the Court of 

Appeals found that Mr. Solis-Diaz's original trial attomey had bc.cn 

ineffective based upon his failure to research or advocate for an exceptional 

sentence downward and for his failure to notify Judge l Iunt that the defendant 

had been automatically declined to the adult court. /d. 

In spite of the Court of Appeals ruling, Judge Hunt imposed an identical 

92.6 years in prison at the second sentencing, finding. in essence, that the 

Court of Appeals had been wrong in its decision to grant a new sentencing 

hearing. CP 256-267. In support of his ruling Judge Hunt began by 

criticizing the Court of Appeals' finding that the trial attorney had been 

ineffective. RP 34-35. Judge Hunt stated: 

First. however, I have some comments to make about the tindings that 
Mr. Underwood was ineffective. l11e leading reason seems to be that Mr 
Underwood failed to notify me that the defendant had not been declined. 
with a judge finding that such an action was in the best interests of tt'ic 
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defendant or the conununity. Mr. Underwood referred to the procedure 
as auto-declined, and that supposedly misled me into thinking that a 
judge had made such a finding. 

Such a conclusion is an insult to all tlu tria/judges in tllis state. To 
postulate that a judge would .be so ignoram, lazy or stupid as to not 
know or inquire at some point why this 17-year-old was in adult court 
is incredible to me. It presupposes that judge didn't review the file or 
was so behind in the law not to know anything about the automatic adult 
jurisdiction in this state. 

RP 34-35 (emphasis added). 

Apart from finding the Court of Appeals decision an "insult" and a claim 

that he as the trial judge was "ignorant, lazy or stupid,'' Judge Hunt went on 

to note his personal interest in refusing to consider the criteria the Court of 

Appeals used to support its decision to remand for resentencing. RP 35. 

Judge Hunt stated the following on this issue: 

In my case it's particularly insulting as Mr. Underwood well 
understood my background which consists of 17 years in prosecution, 
nine years in private practice emphasizing criminal defense, and at the 
time three years on the bench. Not only that. but during my time in the 
prosecutor's office. 1 was very active in the prosecuting attorney's 
juvenile justice committee, for a time with the author of the opinion that 
sent this case back here, and as the elected prosecutor. I was the chair of 
that committee. 

During til at tenure, the automatic jurisdiction statute was passed 
with the support of the Prosecuting Attorneys Association. Since then 
I've made a point of calling that statute '·automatic jurisdiction" and 
strongly discouraging the use of the phrase "auto decline" for precisely 
the reason faced in this case. It is ironic that it would come back to me. 
in fact. but it is simply ludicrous to think that I would not have known 
what Mr. Underwood meant when he said the defendant auto-declined. 

RP 35 (emphasis added). 
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At this point Judge Hunt went on to state that, contrary to the ruling of 

the Court of Appeals. the defendant's original trial counsel was not 

ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence or a sentencing 

memorandum supporting a sentence below the standard range because he 

would have refused to consider either then and he was refusing to consider 

either now. Judge Hunt stated: 

The Court also said he should have done his own presentence 
investigation or a report or memorandum, but it's hard for me to see 
what he would have said in that memo. As Twill discuss later, there are 
no grounds for a mitigated sentence, and he knows that proposing a 
mitigated sentence on grounds that have already been found insufficient 
by various appellate courts is a waste oftime and effort. 

He was also criticized for not bringing the defendant's ftiends and 
family who would have testitied. as they now have in their declarations. 
essentially that the defendant is a good boy and has had a hard life. ln 
my nearly 35 years of involvement with criminal law, I've never seen a 
defendant that didn't have someone. or lots of people, say that he or she 
is a good person and not really a criminal. For that reason. 1 often say 
that criminals exist only in the abstract, because at some point when you 
get to know him. oh, he's really not that way. That sort of testimony is 
totally inetTective and is not a sut1icient basis on which to fashion a 
mitigated sentence in any event. 

RP 36. 

Finally. in this case Judge Hunt justified his decision to impose the same 

sentence upon his belief and the beliefofthe police that the original sentence 

had decreased the occurrence of gang related activity in Lewis County since 

the imposition of the original sentence. RP 44. Judge Hunt stated: 

I don't know where the people live who made the claim that assaults 
in Lew is County have remained relatively steady. but for those of us who 
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do live here, we know this. There had been many similar incidents of 
gang-related violence in Centralia with the use of firearms. From the 
da:.,. this sentence was pronouncedt there !rave been no similar crimes 
in Centralia. Gang-related violence with firearms lra{ve] bee If virtual{v 
eliminated from Centralia. 

Nowt is this a coincidence? Perhaps. However, 11either I nor the 
police think so. And that opinion is shared particularly with those who 
have connections with the gangs, and ifs not hard to see why. Had this 
defendant been adjudicated as a juvenile, he would have received a 
sentence until age 21 within the Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration, 
less than four years following the trial. Even if he had received a 
sentence of 12 to 15 years, as suggested in a couple of places by the 
defense, that time is acceptable to adults who encourage juveniles to do 
their bidding, but not a sentence of this length. 

The end result is that it did deter and has deterred similar conduct. 
Whether it deters bar fights or something of that nature or whatever an 
aggravated assault is, that I can't say. but that was not the message nor 
the community to whom the message was intended. 

RP 43-44 (emphasis added). 

Following Judge Hunt's decision to reimpose the original 92.6 years 

prison sentence, Mr. Solis-Diaz again sought appellate review. CP 268-269. 

In this new appeal Mr. Solis-Diaz argued that he was entitled to a third 

sentencing hearing before a different judge because ( 1) Judge Hunt had erred 

when he found that he had no authority under the sentencing reform act to 

even consider a sentence below the standard range, (2) Judge Hunt had 

imposed a sentence that violated the defendant's right under the Eighth 

Amendment to be free from cruel and unusual punishment, and (3) that Judge 

Hunt should be disqualified from presiding over a new sentencing hearing 

because a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would not conclude that 
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the defendant could obtained a fair, impartial and neutral sentencing hearing 

in front of Judge Hunt. CP 268-269. 

By published opinion entered May 17, 2015, Division II of the Court of 

Appeals ordered a new sentencing hearing on the first argument, refrained 

from ruling on the Eighth Amendment issue, and denied the defendant's 

request for a new scntencingjudge. State v. Solis-Dia::, No. 46002-5-Tl, 2016 

WL 2866398, at 2 (Wn.CU\pp. '\1ay 17.2016). Mr. Solis-Diaz now seeks 

review of the Court of Appeals' refusal to disqualif)' Judge Hunt trom what 

will now be a third sentencing hearing. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The case at bar presents this court with two separate bases for review: (1) 

under RAP 13.4(b)(l) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 

a decision of this court, and (2') under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), this case presents a 

question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. 

The following sets out the aq,ruments in support of these claims. 

Under the Appearance ofFairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is valid 

only if a "reasonably prudent and disinterested observer would conclude that 

all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing." State v. 

Ladenburg, 67 Wn.App. 749. 754-55. 840 P.2d 2:28 (1992); State v. Bilal, 

77 Wn.App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674, 675 ( 1995). This rule derives in part 

from CJC 3(C)( 1 ), which holds that "'[j]udges should disqualify themselves 
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in a proceeding in which their impartiality might reasonably be questioned . 

. . :· Our courts analyze whether or not a trial judge's impartiality might 

reasonably be questioned under an objective test that assumes a reasonable 

person to know and understand all facts relevant to the case. Sherman v. 

State, 128 Wn.2d 164,905 P.2d 355 (1995). 

Generally speaking, a defendant should bring a motion to recuse before 

the trial judge for whom the defendant is seeking recusal. State v. 

Chamberlin. 161 Wn.2d 30. 162 PJd 389 (2007). However, a defendant is 

permitted to bring a motion for reassignment for the first time on appeal 

when the issue raised before the appellate court is also the argued basis for 

the reassignment request. Thus, an appellant may seek reassignment in cases 

in which ( l) the trial judge will, on remand, be called upon to exercise 

discretion regarding the very issue that triggered the appeal. (2) the trial judge 

has expressed an opinion on the merits ofthe case, or (3) the trial judge has 

demonstrated that he or she has otherwise prejudged the issue. State v. 

McEnroe, 181 Wn. 2d 375, 333 P.3d 402 (2014). 

In State v. McEnroe, supra, this court addressed a prosecutor's claim 

made for the first time on appeal that the trial judge should be disqualified. 

In this case the state had charged two defendants with aggravated tirst degree 

murder and filed a notice of intent to seek a sentence of death for each. After 

more than five years of pretrial proceedings, the trial court ruled that the 
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state's original death penalty notices were deficient because they failed to 

alleged that absence of ''mitigating circumstance to merit leniency" under 

RCW 10.95.060(4). The court based this ruling upon its belief that under 

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 

(2000), and its progeny. the absence of mitigating circumstances was an 

essential element required to obtain a death sentence. 

Based upon this ruling, the court informed the parties that it would 

entertain a defense motion to dismiss the death penalty notices if the state did 

not amend to include the absence of mitigating circumstances language the 

court believed mandatory. Following entry of this order the state sought and 

obtained discretionary review seeking reversal of the order and 

disqualification of the trial judge. 

On review, this court reversed the trial judge's order, finding that the 

absence of mitigating circumstances was not an essential element that had to 

be alleged in a death penalty notice. The court then went on to address the 

state's argument that the trial judge should be disqualified. In addressing this 

issue the court first set out the following standard: 

A party may sometimes seek reassignment for the first time on 
appeal, as the State did here. But that is generally done where the issue 
raised on appeal is also the basis for the reassignment request. Thus, 
reassignment may be sought for the first time on appeal where, for 
example, the trial judge will exercise discretion on remand regarding the 
very issue that triggered the appeal and has already been exposed to 
prohibited infonuation, expressed an opinion as to the merits, or 
otherwise prejudged the issue. This remedy has limited availability: 
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even where a trial judge has expressed a strong opinion as to the matter 
appealed, reassignment is generally not avai !able as an appellate remedy 
if the appellate court's decision ctfectivcly limits the trial court's 
discretion on remand. 

State v. McEnroe. 181 Wn.:!d at 387. 

In setting out these rules. the court noted that the state's motion to recuse 

was ''based on the ttial judge's conduct of more than six years of pretrial 

proceedings, its treatment of numerous motions. its discretionary decisions 

on legal issues not currently before this court on their merits, and its views 

on several disputed, complex legal matters." Mcl:l1roe, 181 Wn.2d at 386. 

This court then held that these types of claims do not qualifY as an exception 

to the general rule prohibiting recusal when made for the tirst time on appeal. 

This court held: 

This case does not involve any exception to the rule that a motion to 
recuse is generally the proper way to seek a new trial judge. Of the 
State's seven asserted grounds for reassignment. six are entirely 
unrelated to the Alle,vne!Apprendi issue raised in this appeal and none 
proves that Judge Ramsdell has prejudged the merits of this case or the 
propriety of any particular sentence. 

State v. McEnroe, 181 Wash. 2d at 387-388. 

The case at bar stands in stark contrast to the state's arguments for 

recusal in McEnroe. In lt-fcEnroe the arguments for recusal were unrelated 

to judge's ruling then betore the appellate court. By contrast, in the case at 

bar. the arguments for recusal were directly related to the issues decided by 

the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the argument for recusal centers on Judge 
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Hunt's repeated refusal to consider a sentence below the standard rang~: 

whether or not he had the authority to impose it. lt is tme that he ruled that 

he did not have the authority to impose a sentence below the standard range 

in spite of the Court of Appeals order on remand specifically directing him 

to consider a mitigated sentence. However. Judge Hunt's ruling went beyond 

his belief that he had no authority to impose a sentence below the standard 

range. Rather, he specifically stated that he would not have imposed such a 

sentence under any circumstances. On this issue he stated: 

So to return to the inquiry that started this from the Court of Appeals, 
my answer is no, I would not have given a mitigated sentence had I 
known about the information that Mr. llnderwood supposedly failed to 
give me and apparently I didn't recognize on my own. I already knew it. 
and I imposed the sentence I did being fully informed of the legal 
consequences of doing so. So that's my ruling. 

RP 53. 

In addition, in McEnroe, this court found no basis for recusal because the 

court's decision took discretion away from the trial court on the validity of 

the death penalty notice and ordered him to accept them as filed. By contrast, 

in the case at bar, the Court of Appeals' decision does not take discretion 

away from Judge Hunt on the issue decided on appeal. Rather, the decision 

of the Court of Appeals literaJly forces discretion upon the trial court, 

discretion which the trial court has already refused to exercise. Thus, under 

the decision in McEnroe. Mr. Solis-Diaz is entitled to a new sentencing 

hearing in front of a different judge because ( 1) the order on remand for a 
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new sentencing hearing requires Judge Hunt to exercise discretion regarding 

the very issue that triggered the current appeal, (2) Judge Hunt has repeatedly 

and forcefully expressed an opinion on the merits of the defendant's request 

for a mitigated sentence, and (3) Judge Hunt has demonstrated that he has 

prejudged the issues at sentencing. 

The defendant bas made the forgoing three arguments in conjunction, 

claiming the existence of all three bases for recusal argued for the first time 

on appeal. However, the use of the alternative conjunction "or" in the 

decision in McEnroe clarifies that these three bases are separate alternatives 

and each alone with justifY granting recusal for the first time on appeal. 

As the foregoing explains, while the Court of Appeals decision in this 

case cites to this court's decision in McEnroe, it fails to follow it. Thus, this 

case is ripe for review under RAP 13 .4(b )( l) because it conflicts with this 

court's decision in McEnroe. In addition, while the decision in McEnroe 

cites to the applicable standard for the review of recusal arguments made for 

the first time on appeal. it only provides an example of what does not qualifY. 

Thus, the case at bar provides this court with an opportunity to issue a 

published example of facts that do merit recusal when that request is made 

for the first time on appeal. As a result, this case involves an instance of 

substantial public interest that should be detem1ined by this court under RAP 

13 .4(b )(4 ). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set out in this motion, this court should accept review of 

this case and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals on the issue of 

recusal of the trial judge.