RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 12, 2016, 3:00 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93279-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 46002-5-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

GUADALUPE SOLIS-DIAZ,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

1. Did the Court of Appeals error when it declined to disqualify Judge Hunt from further proceedings in this case?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 11, 2007 Solis-Diaz hunted down Jesse Dow in downtown Centralia. CP 18-19, 52-53. Solis-Diaz followed Mr. Dow back to the Tower Tavern, rolled down the passenger window and began shooting his gun into a crowd of people gathered outside the tavern. *Id.* The bullets shattered windows and ricocheted off the sidewalk and building. CP 19, 53. Fortunately the people outside escaped injury. CP 1-3, 19, 53.

Solis-Diaz's actions were in apparent response to Mr. Dow's disagreement with an LVL gang member. CP 21, 53. The specific LVL gang member, Josh Rhoades, attended Solis-Diaz's trial. CP 53. Mr. Dow and Sheena Fisco, another victim, believed that Mr.

Rhoades and/or other LVL gang members would retaliate against them for testifying at the Defendant's trial. CP 53.

Solis-Diaz was charged with six counts of Assault in the First Degree, one count of Drive-By Shooting and one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree. CP 1-4. Because Solis-Diaz was 16 years-old on August 11, 2007, RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A) required that Solis-Diaz's conduct be addressed in superior court, rather than in the juvenile court system. Prior to trial the State offered Solis-Diaz a plea deal for 180 months, plus community custody. CP 35. Solis-Diaz declined the State's plea offer. CP 35.

Solis-Diaz was convicted as charged. CP 1-4, 6, 22, 35, 54. The State requested high end of the standard range for each count. CP 36. Solis-Diaz's trial counsel asked for low end of the standard range, but did not ask the trial court to impose any type of mitigated exceptional sentence below the standard range. CP 36. Solis-Diaz was sentenced to a combined 1111 months, or 92.5 years. CP 11, 36.

Solis-Diaz appealed his conviction and sentence, which was affirmed. CP 16-31. Solis-Diaz next filed a personal restraint petition. CP 32-47. Division Two found Solis-Diaz's trial counsel ineffective during the sentencing hearing and remanded the case back to the trial court for resentencing. CP 32-47.

Solis-Diaz was appointed new counsel, who secured an expert and filed a resentencing memorandum. CP 48-51, 75-255. At the resentencing hearing there was also testimony presented from Dr. Roesch regarding Solis-Diaz's lessened culpability. RP 10-19. The State also filed a resentencing memorandum. CP 52-62. After hearing the recommendations Judge Hunt sentenced Solis-Diaz to the same sentence he had originally received, 1111 months in prison. RP 34, CP 256-67.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The Court should not accept review in this case. There is not a conflict between the decision in this case and a decision in this Court, nor is this an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(4). The Court of Appeals followed this Court's reasoning in *State v. McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d 375, 333 P.3d 402 (2014).

E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals followed this Court's holding and reasoning in *State v. McEnroe*, properly applying it to Solis-Diaz's case. Contrary to Solis-Diaz's assertion, there is no conflict between Division Two's decision in his case and this Court's decision in

McEnroe. Simply because Solis-Diaz is dissatisfied with Judge Hunt is not sufficient to have Judge Hunt removed by a higher court. As the State argued at the Court of Appeals, nothing is preventing Solis-Diaz from asking Judge Hunt to disqualify himself. Further, although outside the record, Judge Hunt retires at the end of this year, 2016, which Solis-Diaz's counsel is well aware of, and the State will not be asking to have Judge Hunt return to Lewis County to continue to hear this matter.

The appearance of fairness doctrine and whether a judge should be disqualified based upon if the judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned is an objective test. *In re Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. 812, 818, 244 P.3d 959 (2010). An appearance of fairness claim will not succeed without evidence of actual or potential bias because the claim would be without merit. *Id*.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial by an impartial judge. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The law requires more than just impartiality, the law requires a judge to also appear impartial. *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 187, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (quotations and citations omitted). It is presumed that a judge acts without prejudice or bias. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. Judges are also required to disgualify himself or herself from a proceeding if the judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned or they are biased against a party. CJC 2.11(A); *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818.

"The appearance of fairness doctrine is 'directed at the evil of a biased or potentially interested judge or quasi-judicial decision maker." Swenson, 158 Wn. App. at 818, citing State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 618-19, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). Under the objective standard, "a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude that the parties received a fair, impartial and neutral hearing." Gamble, 168 Wn.2d at 187 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Allegedly improper or biased comments are considered in context. See, e.g., Gamble, 168 Wn.2d at 188; In re Dependency of O.J., 88 Wn. App. 690, 697, 947 P.2d 252 (1997). A defendant who has reason to believe a judge is biased and impartial must affirmatively act if they wish to pursue a claim for violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. Swenson, 158 Wn. App. at 818. A defendant cannot simply wait until he or she has an adverse ruling to move for disgualification of a judge if that defendant has reason to believe the judge should be disqualified. *Id.*

A party who is seeking a judge's removal from a case must generally file a motion requesting recusal in the trial court. *McEnroe*,

181 Wn.2d at 386. "The recusal rule itself is based on the assumption that the challenged judge gets to evaluate the stated grounds for recusal in the first instance." *McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d at 386. A party may ask to have a judge removed for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 387.

[R]eassignement may be sought for the first time on appeal where, for example, the trial judge will exercise discretion on remand regarding the very issue that triggered the appeal and has already been exposed to prohibited information, expressed an opinion as to the merits, or otherwise prejudged the issue.

Id. The remedy of appellate court removal is generally not available when the decision of the appellate court "effectively limits the trial court's discretion on remand." *Id.*

Solis-Diaz takes snippets of Judge Hunts comments during the resentencing hearing, mostly those that are directed towards Division Two, and argues that these, coupled with the fact that Judge Hunt imposed the same sentence show Judge Hunt must be removed from the case by a higher court. Yet, Division Two in its opinion hit the nail squarely on the head when evaluating Judge Hunt's comments during the resentencing hearing, stating,

Solis-Diaz argues that Judge Hunt's remarks indicate a general refusal to accept the mandate of this court. However, none of Judge Hunt's comments indicated that he would not accept or follow our mandate following this appeal. Instead, his comments expressed personal umbrage towards this court for its reasoning in ordering the previous resentencing. Whether or not these comments were inappropriate, we do not hold that require disgualification on remand.

Appendix A, page 12. Division Two went on to state, that while some of the comments, read in isolation may seem to indicate Judge Hunt had prejudged Solis-Diaz's case, when read in context that was not the case. Appendix A, 13. Judge Hunt was expressing how he was constrained by his reading of the case law. *Id.*

Judge Hunt took great pains at the re-sentencing hearing to explain his actions from the previous sentencing hearing and to also explain to this Court why he felt the opinion authored in Solis-Diaz's personal restraint petition was insulting to trial judges. RP 34-52. But frustration with Division Two does not mean Judge Hunt failed to be impartial.

Judge Hunt pointed out that he knew Solis-Diaz was an autoadult jurisdiction case and to assume otherwise was insulting. RP 34-35. Judge Hunt also noted, for Division Two's benefit, that the local Department of Corrections office refuses to do pre-sentence investigations unless they are mandated by statute and there is no such mandate in a case like Solis-Diaz's. RP 35-36. Judge Hunt also made a record regarding how Mr. Underwood understood what his audience, the trial judge, knew what would and would not likely be persuasive. RP 36-37. Finally, to make it clear he understood that he could have, if he had so chosen to, handed down an exceptional sentence below the standard range at the time of Solis-Diaz's original sentencing, Judge Hunt stated, "[d]espite the clear legislative intent, I know I could, and I knew I could at the time of the original sentence, under some circumstances declare an exceptional sentence below the standard range." RP 42. This sentence in particular is what Division Two was remarking upon in its opinion. That now, fully aware of all the reasons under which Judge Hunt may, can, and should consider an exceptional sentence below the standard range, as explained in the opinion from Division Two, there is nothing contained within the record that would indicate Judge Hunt will not follow the Court's remand order or give Solis-Diaz a fair and impartial hearing.

Because, despite his irritation at Division Two, Judge Hunt considered all of the material submitted by Solis-Diaz's attorney, listened to the testimony of Solis-Diaz's expert, heard Solis-Diaz's attorney's argument regarding sentencing, and listened to Solis-Diaz before making his ruling. *See* RP. Simply disagreeing with the recommendations, and explaining in depth why, does not render Judge Hunt bias and unable to impartially follow the Court's

instructions on remand. Further, one hearing, where Judge Hunt resentenced Solis-Diaz does not make for "repeatedly and forcefully expressed an opinion on the merits of the defendant's request for a mitigated sentence." See Petition for Review, 14.

Division Two reversed Solis-Diaz's sentence on two bases, (1) that the trial court refused to consider whether a mitigated sentence was warranted due to a clearly excessive operation of the multiple offense policy, and (2) the trial court failing to consider whether youth diminished Solis-Diaz's culpability under this Court's decision in *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). The multiple offense policy case, *State v. Graham*, 181 Wn.2d 878, 337 P.3d 319 (2014), was decided by this Court after Solis-Diaz's resentencing hearing. Similarly, *O'Dell* was also decided after Solis-Diaz's resentencing hearing. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680. Division Two gives a detailed road map to the resentencing court regarding the nature of the inquiry on resentencing. Appendix A, 8-11. The directives of the court could not be clearer. There were no such directives on the original remand.

While it is true the judge resentencing this case will be asked to use his or her discretion to consider a request for a mitigated sentence below the standard range in regards to the multiple offense

policy and whether youth diminished Solis-Diaz's culpability, which are in part issues that triggered this very appeal, that does not automatically justify Judge Hunt being removed from the case. Even when a judge has been shown to have a strong opinion on an issue, removal is a limited remedy. *McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d at 407-08. Division Two noted that Judge Hunt had not had an opportunity to analyze whether Solis-Diaz should receive a mitigated sentence in light of this Court's decision in *O'Dell*. Appendix A, 13, Division Two also noted that Judge Hunt was following controlling case law at the time when he refused to consider a mitigated sentence in light of the multiple offense policy. *Id*. Division Two's decision is not in conflict with this Court. Therefore, pursuant to RCW 13.4(b)(1), this Court should not accept review.

Solis-Diaz also invites this Court to take his case so it can use the unique facts as an exempt to all about when it is appropriate to remove a judge at the appellate review level. Solis-Diaz argues that this example is what makes the case of substantial public importance. The State asks this Court to reject this invitation. This Court has made it clear the factors for which should be considered for removal of a judge at the appellate level rather than at the trial court level. *See McEnroe*, 181 Wn.2d at 387-89. The issue Solis-

Diaz raises in regards to removal of a judge do not rise to the level of substantial public interest. This Court should decline review.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review of the sole issue Solis-Diaz raises in his petition for review. If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.